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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA

ATLANTA DIVISION
Securities and Exchange
Commission,
Plaintiff,
Civil Action No.
V.

Salvadore D. Palermo,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “Commission”)
files this Complaint and alleges as follows:

OVERVIEW

1. Defendant Salvadore D. Palermo (“Defendant” or “Palermo™), a
former fixed income trader for J.P. Turner, L.L.C. (“J.P. Turner”), a now-defunct
broker-dealer formerly registered with the Commission, knowingly entered a series
of fictitious sales of certain financial instruments which resulted in J.P. Turner’s

creating and maintaining inaccurate financial books, records and reports.
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2. Specifically, between at least August 2014 and March 2015, Palermo
entered certain fictitious sales orders in J.P. Turner’s books, records and electronic
trading systems despite knowing that the named counterparty/purchaser had never
agreed to buy the instruments and that each sales order would ultimately be
cancelled with the instruments being returned to J.P. Turner’s inventory.

3. Palermo created these sham sales to temporarily remove the
instruments from J.P. Turner’s inventory in order to appear to comply with J.P.
Turner’s internal inventory policy, which strictly limited the dollar amount of fixed
income inventory that could be held at month end and at other times intra-month.

4, As a result of these sham transactions, J.P. Turner made and
maintained inaccurate trading and financial books and records, and filed with the
Commission inaccurate Financial and Operational Combined Uniform Single
(“FOCUS”) Reports, which contain certain financial and operational information
for the firm, for each month between at least August 2014 and February 2015, all
of which violated of Section 17(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(“Exchange Act”) and Rules 17a-3 and 17a-5 thereunder.

5. Palermo aided and abetted these violations by J.P. Turner.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
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6. The Commission brings this action pursuant to Sections 20 and 21 of
the Exchange Act, to enjoin Defendant from engaging in the transactions, acts,
practices, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint, and transactions, acts,
practices, and courses of business of similar purport and object, for civil penalties
and for other equitable relief.

7. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(d),
21(e) and 27 of the Exchange Act.

8. Defendant, directly, and indirectly, made use of the mails, the means
and instruments of transportation and communication in interstate commerce and
the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce in connection with the
transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in this Complaint.

9. Venue lies in this Court because Defendant Palermo was and is a
resident of this District, including during the time period between August 2014 and
April 2015, and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the
violations of the Exchange Act occurred within this District.

DEFENDANT AND RELEVANT ENTITY

10.  Defendant Palermo has resided within this District for several years,
including between August 2014 and April 2015. Palermo worked for J.P. Turner

from February 2003 until his termination in July 2015, spending the last five years
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of that time as a fixed income trader. Prior to his employment at J.P. Turner,
Palermo worked for several broker-dealers, and he has held Series 7, 24
(principal), and 63 licenses since the 1980s.

11.  J.P. Turner was a Georgia limited liability company with its principal
place of business in Atlanta, Georgia. J.P. Turner was privately owned from 1997
until June 2014 when it was acquired by RCS Capital Corporation, which
thereafter filed for bankruptcy in 2015. J.P. Turner was registered with the
Commission as a broker-dealer until April 4, 2016, when its withdrawal Form
BDW (filed earlier in February 2016) became effective. The firm is no longer
operational.

BACKGROUND

12.  In 2003, Palermo joined J.P. Turner as a registered representative,
after being employed for seventeen years in the Atlanta area with several different
broker-dealers.

13.  In approximately 2010, after seven years of managing a retail book of
business, Palermo transitioned to J.P. Turner’s fixed income desk as a trader. In
this position Palermo serviced the fixed income product requirements of J.P.
Turner's registered representatives and their customers by locating and trading with

third-party buyers and sellers of fixed income products.
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14.  As a fixed income trader, Palermo frequently worked with a certain
1.P. Turner registered representative (“Broker”) who regularly invested clients in a
fixed income financial instrument called a market-linked certificate of deposit
(“MLCD”) .

15.  MLCDs are Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insured
certificates of deposit that tie their rate of return to the performance of one or more
securities or market indexes, such as bond indexes, the Dow Jones Industrial
Average or the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index. MLCDs can be attractive to
investors due to the possibility of higher returns than traditional CDs, while
providing some “principal protection” for the original deposit amount via FDIC
insurance. However, MLCDs are riskier than traditional CDs due to their longer
maturity (generally from five to twenty years), limited secondary market and
exposure to market downturns (which may result in little to no investment return at
maturity).

16. Palermo would routinely buy and sell MLLCDs and other fixed income
products on the behalf of Broker and other registered representatives at J.P. Turner.
Palermo would utilize J.P. Turner’s fixed income desk trading accounts to
temporarily maintain positions in these products. However, because the fixed

income desk did not conduct proprietary trading (i.e. trading for its own profit),
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and to avoid market risk due to long term positions in fixed income financial
products, J.P. Turner internal policy placed strict limits on how much inventory
Palermo and the fixed income desk could hold in its accounts without authorization
by management. During 2014 and 2015, J.P. Turner required that the fixed
income inventory accounts be at zero at each month-end and not exceed
approximately $2 to $4 million at any point during each month (again, subject to
authorization by management) .

PALERMO PURCHASES AND HOLDS
MLCDs IN J.P. TURNER’S INVENTORY

17.  Beginning in approximately 2013, and continuing into 2014 and 20135,
several of Broker’s customers sought to sell certain MLCDs held in their accounts
prior to maturity. However, the prevailing market price of the instruments was
often significantly below par amount, which would result in a loss to these
customers upon sale.

18. To avoid such losses, Broker reached out to Palermo for assistance.
Frequently, Palermo would agree to repurchase the MLCD at par value and hold
them in J.P. Turner’s fixed income inventory account. Then, Palermo would seek
to sell the MLCDs from the fixed income inventory to a third party at a price at or

near par to avoid losses in the fixed income account.
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19.  Although Palermo was occasionally able to sell the MLCDs at or near
par value, locating a purchaser and completing a trade often took time and required
Palermo to maintain multi-million dollar MLCD positions in the J.P. Turner fixed
inventory account for weeks and in some cases months.

PALERMO ENTERED FICTITIOUS SALES TO TEMPORARILY
REMOVE MLCDs FROM J.P. TURNER’S INVENTORY ACCOUNT

20. Beginning in approximately August 2014, this time delay required
Palermo to hold MLCD positions for longer periods of time (sometimes as long as
several months), substantially increasing J.P. Turner’s fixed income inventory
position.

21.  In order to comply with J.P. Turner’s limits on fixed income
inventory, while avoiding a loss due to market sales of the ML.CD positions, for
each month-end from August 2014 through March 2015, and on several occasions
intra-month during that same period, Palermo entered fictitious sales of MLCDs
from the firm’s inventory.

22.  For each of these fictitious sales, Palermo named a large third-party
broker-dealer as counterparty (without their knowledge) (“Purchaser”), and set the
purchase price at par value (to avoid recording a loss). By entering these trades,
Palermo was able to fraudulently remove the oversized MLCD inventory to

comply with J.P. Turner’s inventory restrictions, while avoiding selling the

7
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inventory at a loss. Although the removal of the inventory was temporary, as the
fictitious sales would ultimately be rejected by Purchaser and taken back into J.P.
Turner’s fixed income inventory, this process would take a few days’ time. This
delay allowed Palermo to comply with the strict month-end inventory limitations
(which did not allow any inventory to be held) and recover the inventory intra-
month when J.P. Turner’s policy allowed for several million dollars’ worth of
inventory holdings.

23. By way of example, on Friday, February 27, 2015 at 4:10 p.m. the last
business day of the month, Palermo entered the following four sales of MLCDs
with Purchaser as the purported counterparty:

e $1,334,000 of Citibank MLCDs at 100 (par);

e $380,000 of United Community Bank MLCDs at 100 (par);
o [1,105,000 of Citibank MLCDs at 100 (par); and

e $620,000 of United Community Bank MLCDs at 100 (par).

24. By entering these four sales, Palermo removed $3.44 million of
inventory from the J.P. Turner’s fixed income inventory at month end.

25. Inearly March 2015, following J.P. Turner’s clearing firm advising

that the trades had not been “recognized” or accepted by Purchaser, Palermo
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cancelled the trades, with the $3.44 million of MLCD inventory returned to the J.P.
Turner fixed income inventory.

26. In some cases Palermo issued fictitious sales for the same instrument
numerous times, while effectively holding the instrument for several months.

27. Intotal, Palermo entered 48 fictitious sales totaling over $24 million
between August 2014 and March 2015.

28. Palermo’s fictitious sales resulted in errors to J.P. Turner’s books,
records and reports from at least August 2014 to April 2015, including the creation
and maintaining of inaccurate trade blotters, misstated asset and revenue account
balances, and the filing of inaccurate FOCUS Reports with the Commission.

29.  InJuly 2015, J.P. Turner terminated Palermo’s employment noting on
his Form U5: “Engaged in structured product transactions for the apparent purpose
of concealing inventory positions.”

COUNT 1
AIDING AND ABETTING VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 17(a)(1) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT [15 U.S.C. § 78Q(a)(1)] AND RULES 17a-3 AND 17a-5 [17
CFR §§ 240.17a-3 AND 17a-5] THEREUNDER.

30. Paragraphs 1 through 29 are hereby realleged and incorporated Herein

by reference.
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31.  J.P. Turner, due to the improper removal from inventory of certain
MLCDs by Palermo between August 2014 and April 2015, violated Section
17(a)(1) of the Exchange Act and Rules 17a-3 and 17a-5 thereunder by failing to
make and keep the required accurate blotters, ledgers and trial balances, including
records pertaining to its asset and revenue account balances and further filed
inaccurate FOCUS Reports.

32. By his conduct, Palermo knowingly or recklessly provided substantial
assistance to J.P. Turner’s violations of the Exchange Act, including the foregoing
failures.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully prays that the Court:
L.
Make findings of fact and conclusions of law in accordance with Rule 52 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
I1.
Permanently enjoin Defendant, directly or indirectly, and his agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation with him who

receive actual notice of the order by personal service or otherwise, and each of them

10
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from aiding and abetting violations of, directly or indirectly, Section 17(a) of the
Exchange Act and Rules 17a-3 and 17a-5 thereunder.
1.

Issue an Order pursuant to Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act, imposing
civil monetary penalties.

IV.

Issue an Order that retains jurisdiction over this action in order to implement
and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that may have been entered or to
entertain any suitable application or motion by the Commission for additional relief
within the jurisdiction of this Court.

V.

Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.

This 6™ day of August, 2018. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,
/s/M. Graham Loomis
M. Graham Loomis
Regional Trial Counsel

Georgia Bar No. 457868
loomism@sec.gov

Paul Kim

Senior Trial Counsel
Georgia Bar No. 418841
kimpau(@sec.gov
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COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF

U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
950 East Paces Ferry Road, N.E., Suite 900

Atlanta, Georgia 30326

(404) 842-7600
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